STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUN 27 2019

On Writ of Certiorari to Aiken County
Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-001674

S.C. SUPREME COURT

JOHN UPSON,

Respondent,

vs.

THE STATE,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

Did the post-conviction relief judge reversibly err by finding—in a legally-erroneous manner and without factual support—defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own?

- A. Did the post-conviction relief judge err as a matter of law by finding defense counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing either to seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of the eyewitness identification evidence or to challenge the admission of that evidence during trial when—just as the post-conviction relief judge found in his order incorrectly granting relief—the victim made the identification without the involvement of any suggestive circumstances created by law enforcement, which necessarily meant defense counsel could not have been deficient for failing to challenge the identification evidence through a pre-trial hearing request or a trial objection since there were no valid legal grounds supporting such a request or objection?
- B. Did the post-conviction relief judge err as a matter of law by finding defense counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to cross-examine Alston in some unspecified manner about testimony indicating Upson had a “lazy eye” when defense counsel thoroughly attacked Alston’s identification of Upson as the robber in an appropriate and reasonable manner throughout the trial and when no prejudice could have resulted from defense counsel’s failure to question Alston about her “lazy eye” testimony in light of the fact the jurors had a full opportunity to view Upson’s eyes throughout the trial, which enabled them to make their own determinations regarding the reliability of Alston’s testimony even without any additional questioning?
- C. Did the post-conviction relief judge err as a matter of law by finding defense counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own when the evidence the post-conviction relief judge found should have been presented by defense counsel did not yet exist at the time of trial, which meant defense counsel could not have been deficient for failing to obtain it since doing so would have been impossible under the circumstances, and, even if the evidence had somehow existed, its presentation could not have had any impact on the result of the proceeding?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

In December of 2013, Respondent John Upson was arrested following an investigation into an armed robbery that had occurred a few days earlier. In January of 2014, the Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Upson for one count of armed robbery and two counts of kidnapping. On April 15, 2014, a jury trial was commenced in the Aiken County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Donald B. Hocker, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the two-day trial, the jury convicted Upson as indicted. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Upson to concurrent terms of imprisonment of twenty years for each of the three convictions. Upson then timely filed and perfected an appeal.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals unanimously affirmed Upson's convictions in an unpublished opinion. State v. Upson, Op. No. 2016-UP-237 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 1, 2016). Thereafter, on June 17, 2016, remittitur was issued.

Subsequent to the issuance of the remittitur, Upson timely filed an application for post-conviction relief, and, in response, the State filed a return requesting an evidentiary hearing. On May 5, 2018, an evidentiary hearing was conducted in the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas with the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, the post-conviction relief judge took the matter under advisement. Thereafter, through an order filed on July 23, 2018, and an amended order filed on August 10, 2018, the post-conviction relief judge granted Upson's post-conviction relief application. The State then timely filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and the post-conviction relief judge summarily denied the State's motion through an order filed on August 29, 2018.

Factual History

Summary of Upson's Crimes and the Evidence Discovered during the Ensuing Investigation

At around 10:00 p.m. on the night of November 27, 2013, Scott Hall was taking the trash outside to the dumpster behind the Captain D's restaurant he worked at in Aiken, South Carolina, when two men dressed in black clothing with bandanas partially covering their faces rapidly approached him, put a gun to his head, and forced him back into the restaurant. (App'x pp. 54-55; pp. 57-58; pp. 78-80; p. 89; p. 96). Once inside, the gunman ordered Hall to take him to the front of the restaurant where the safe was located while the other robber remained at the rear of the restaurant with Jameshia Alston, another of the restaurant's employees. (App'x pp. 52-54; p. 80). Terrified, Hall complied with the gunman's commands and led him to Devin Johnson, the restaurant's manager. (App'x p. 101). The gunman then ordered Hall to get onto the floor and directed Johnson to give him the restaurant's cash. (App'x p. 81). After that, the robbers forced Hall, Johnson, and Alston into a freezer at the back of the restaurant before rapidly absconding from the scene. (App'x p. 54; pp. 59-60; p. 66; p. 81; pp. 85-86; p. 91; p. 95).

Once the robbers were gone, Alston and the others left the freezer, and Johnson called 911 to report what had occurred. (App'x pp. 60-61; pp. 91-92). Shortly after that, officers from the Aiken Department of Public Safety responded to the scene and spoke with the restaurant's employees, who recounted the harrowing ordeal and provided general descriptions of the partially-masked robbers. (App'x p. 61; p. 68; p. 71; p. 76; p. 80; pp. 86-87; p. 92; p. 96; p. 100). Furthermore, Alston reported she recognized the robber who watched over her during the incident as a customer who had come into the restaurant a few days earlier and spoken with William Keels, another of the restaurant's employees. (App'x pp. 56-57; p. 61; p. 110; p. 112). However, Alston indicated she did not know the man's name at that time. (App'x p. 61).

At the conclusion of the investigation at the scene, Alston went home and independently began searching for the robber she recognized using the internet. (App'x pp. 56-57; p. 72; pp. 116-117). During the search, she examined Keels's Facebook page and, while looking through his list of friends on that website, instantly recognized one of Keels's friends as the robber upon seeing his picture. (App'x pp. 56-57; p. 65; pp. 73-74). Based on that, she was able to determine the robber was Upson, and she quickly alerted Detective Billy Royster of her discovery. (App'x p. 61; pp. 73-74; p. 102).

In response, Detective Royster arrested Upson in connection to the incident. (App'x pp. 102-103; p. 105; pp. 271-272). Upson was then indicted for armed robbery along with several counts of kidnapping, and he proceeded forward to trial. (App'x p. 6; pp. 273-278).

Relevant Details from Upson's Trial

During the course of trial, Alston testified for the prosecution and recounted the details of the terrifying robbery. (App'x pp. 52-77). Alston further identified Upson in the courtroom as one of the robbers, and she explained how she was initially able to identify him as one of the people involved. (App'x pp. 55-57; p. 61; pp. 65-66; pp. 72-75). Then, during defense counsel's cross-examination, Alston acknowledged she was frightened when she viewed the robber, conceded she only saw a partial view of the robber's face, and revealed she was shown a list of names as some point by the police. (App'x p. 75). However, she specifically confirmed she did not have Upson's name at the time she identified him through her independent research. (App'x p. 74). Thereafter, on redirect examination, the solicitor questioned Alston about her recognition of Upson's eyes as the robber's eyes, and she explained: "He has a lazy eye. It's kind of droopy, like that." (App'x p. 77). After that, defense counsel did not ask any further questions of the witness. (App'x p. 77).

Following Alston's testimony, Hall recounted his experiences on the night of the robbery, and, during his testimony, defense counsel questioned him about his lack of knowledge that money was actually stolen during the incident while also questioning him about his recollection of the physical appearance of the robbers. (App'x pp. 78-99). Furthermore, Detective Royster discussed the details of his investigation that culminated in Upson's arrest, and, during his testimony, defense counsel questioned him about various purported shortcomings with the investigation while further questioning him about Upson's height, which was inconsistent with Hall's description of the robbers' heights. (App'x p. 87; pp. 100-135).

Beyond that testimony, Desra Fraser, an intelligence research specialist with the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives, testified about how she assisted in the investigation by using PenLink software to analyze Upson's phone records, which had been obtained from his phone company. (App'x p. 103; p. 138; pp. 147-149). By using PenLink, Fraser indicated she generated maps of the locations where Upson was positioned when various calls were made on the night of the incident, and the maps were admitted into evidence. (App'x p. 149; p. 153). Additionally, Fraser stated some of the maps depicted "possible" movement at the time the calls were being made. (App'x p. 155). Furthermore, Fraser noted Upson's phone was used to call the Captain D's restaurant at 9:37 p.m. on the night of the crime and then was used again to call the restaurant at 9:47 p.m. with the caller identification information intentionally blocked during the second call. (App'x p. 151). Thereafter, on cross-examination, Fraser conceded she had no idea who was using Upson's phone when the calls were made. (App'x pp. 157-158). Likewise, she admitted she had no idea if the phone was actually moving during the calls. (App'x pp. 158-159).

Following the presentation of that testimony and evidence, the State rested, and defense counsel called three alibi witnesses to testify on Upson's behalf. (App'x p. 163; p. 174; pp. 183-203). During the testimony of those witnesses, one indicated he saw Upson before a comedy show that took place in downtown Aiken on the night of the incident, one indicated she saw Upson before and after the show, and the other indicated she saw Upson after the show. (App'x pp. 184-186; pp. 190-194; pp. 196-197; p. 199; p. 201). However, none reported seeing Upson during the course of the show, which purportedly began at some point after 8:00 p.m. or 9:00 p.m. and ended at some point between 10:30 p.m. and midnight. (App'x p. 194; p. 189; pp. 190-191; pp. 195-197; p. 199; p. 201; p. 203).

At the conclusion of the presentation of that testimony, the defense rested, and the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury. (App'x p. 204; pp. 210-238). During defense counsel's closing argument, defense counsel heavily relied on the testimony of the alibi witnesses in arguing Upson was not involved in the robbery. (App'x pp. 211-212; pp. 218-219). Furthermore, throughout the entirety of his closing argument, defense counsel repeatedly questioned the reliability of Alston's identification and conducted four separate demonstrations to illustrate to the jury how difficult it would have been for Alston to accurately identify Upson solely from a glimpse of the robber's nose and eyes. (App'x pp. 213-219). Conversely, during the State's closing argument, the solicitor challenged the reliability of the alibi witnesses based on their inability to provide concrete times and argued Alston's identification of the robber, whom she recognized from an earlier visit to the restaurant, was reliable. (App'x pp. 225-228; p. 230; p. 237). Furthermore, the solicitor conceded the maps of Upson's calls established Upson was downtown prior to the robbery, which was consistent with his claimed alibi, but noted the maps established he was not downtown after the robbery. (App'x p. 184; pp. 232-233).

Subsequently, at the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Upson as indicted. (App'x p. 258; pp. 279-280). The trial judge then sentenced Upson to an aggregate twenty-year term of imprisonment. (App'x p. 269; pp. 281-283).

Summary of the Post-Conviction Relief Proceedings

Following an unsuccessful appeal, Upson sought post-conviction relief on a number of grounds, including on the basis his defense counsel was allegedly ineffective for failing to fully cross-examine Alston, request a pre-trial hearing about the identification evidence, object to that evidence during trial, and fully refute the State's case. (App'x pp. 352-356; pp. 357-364). In response, the State filed a return requesting an evidentiary hearing. (App'x 366-371).

During the ensuing hearing, Thomas Slovenski, an expert in mobile phone forensics, testified on Upson's behalf, and, during his testimony, several maps of Upson's phone calls on the night of the incident that had been admitted during trial were introduced into evidence along with some maps Slovenski had personally generated using a more modern program than the one available to Fraser when she created the maps used at trial. (App'x pp. 380-381; p. 383; p. 386; pp. 389-395; pp. 397-398; p. 402; pp. 468-474). Relying on his maps along with his belief the robbery had occurred around 10:40 p.m. to 10:47 p.m., Slovenski opined no calls were made from Upson's phone "that encompassed the incident location at the incident date and time."¹ (App'x pp. 383-384). Additionally, Slovenski asserted Fraser's maps could have been better while contending the program he used, which was not available until 2015, was better than the "good" one used by Fraser. (App'x p. 386; p. 402). Slovenski further indicated his program generated maps different from the maps generated using the "old methodology," which was the "pie method," and he stated he believed the maps generated by his program were more accurate

¹ Contrary to Slovenski's belief of when the robbery occurred, the victims testified during trial it took place around 10:00 p.m. or 10:15 p.m. (App'x p. 53; p. 58; p. 79).

than Fraser's maps, which he contended could have "potentially" suggested Upson was closer to the restaurant than he might have been at various times. (App'x p. 386; p. 390; p. 402).

However, Slovenski conceded the program used by Fraser was commonly used at the time of Upson's trial, and he asserted he, in fact, would have used the "pie method" at the time of trial because "that was all that was available at that time." (App's pp. 401-402). Furthermore, Slovenski acknowledged some of the maps generated by Fraser had the same results as his maps, and he conceded the State never suggested during Upson's trial their maps showed Upson was at the scene of the crime at the time of the robbery. (App'x pp. 387-388; p. 403).

In addition to Slovenski's testimony, Upson testified on his own behalf and, based on his view of the trial testimony, opined Alston must have had a list of names at the time she identified him during her independent investigation following the robbery.² (App'x pp. 426-431). Furthermore, he asserted Alston's identification was based on him having a "lazy eye," which he claimed was inaccurate. (App'x pp. 431-432).

Following that testimony, Grant Gibbons, who assisted defense counsel with the trial, testified for the State about his recollection of the trial and indicated the defense strategy was to assert an alibi defense.³ (App'x pp. 438-440). However, he noted Upson's whereabouts could not be completely accounted for by the alibi witnesses. (App'x p. 440). Additionally, Gibbons indicated they reviewed the phone records, which he stated would have been meaningful only if they placed Upson at the scene of the crime, with a knowledgeable attorney to prepare for trial, and he stated Upson admitted to them he had called the restaurant before the robbery, which was

² Significantly, during his testimony, Upson also *confirmed* Alston's account of seeing him at the restaurant just days before the robbery. (App'x p. 427).

³ Notably, defense counsel had moved to Colorado by the time of the hearing, was not present for it, and was not permitted to testify by telephone following an objection from Upson. (App'x pp. 376-378).

reflected in the records. (App’x p. 151; pp. 441-442; pp. 446-447). Furthermore, in regard to the identification evidence, Gibbons explained no challenge was raised to it because no government action was involved in the out-of-court identification, which meant there was no basis upon which to challenge it. (App’s pp. 442-444; p. 450). Likewise, Gibbons disagreed with Upson’s interpretation of Alston’s testimony, and he noted defense counsel thoroughly challenged Alston’s identification to the jury in a “really effective” manner by demonstrating the difficulty in identifying people just from their eyes and noses. (App’x pp. 442-444; pp. 452-453).

Thereafter, once all the testimony and evidence had been introduced, the parties made their arguments for and against a grant of relief in Upson’s case. (App’x pp. 456-466). The post-conviction relief judge then took the matter under advisement. (App’x p. 466).

Subsequently, upon considering the matter, the post-conviction relief judge issued an order—and amended order—granting post-conviction relief to Upson.⁴ (App’x pp. 475-493). In granting relief, the post-conviction relief judge concluded defense counsel was deficient for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of the identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own. (App’x pp. 492-493). Furthermore, without explanation or analysis, the post-conviction relief judge concluded defense counsel’s deficiencies resulted in some undefined prejudice to Upson. (App’x p. 493). The State then sought for the post-conviction relief judge to reconsider his ruling, but he summarily declined to do so. (App’x pp. 494-508).

⁴ Interestingly, there do not appear to be any substantive differences between the original order and amended order. (App’x pp. 475-493).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief judge reversibly erred by finding—in a legally-erroneous manner and without factual support—defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own.

In the case sub judice, the post-conviction relief judge concluded defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own. To the contrary, defense counsel was not deficient in any manner during Upson’s trial, and there was no reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for the tactical decisions defense counsel made in carrying out his representation.⁵ As a result, the post-conviction relief judge erred as a matter of law by finding defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective, and his ruling was legally erroneous and without factual support. The State’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be granted, and the post-conviction relief judge’s grant of relief should be reversed.

Standard of Review

In post-conviction relief cases, the standard of review to be applied on appeal is directly dependent on the specific issues raised. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing a post-conviction relief judge’s factual findings on appeal, the appellate

⁵ Notably, in granting relief, the post-conviction relief judge did not specifically find there was a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for defense counsel’s purported errors despite the fact such a finding was necessary for a grant of relief to be warranted and proper. (App’x pp. 491-493).

court will defer to those findings and uphold them if they are supported by any evidence of probative value appearing in the record. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); see Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018) (“Under the proper standard of review, the appellate court’s ‘view’ must be limited to whether there is probative evidence to support the PCR court’s factual findings.”). Meanwhile, when reviewing a pure question of law, an appellate court will consider such a matter de novo and is not required to give deference to the post-conviction relief judge’s rulings. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014). Ultimately, if the post-conviction judge’s decision is controlled by an error of law, an appellate court will reverse that decision on appeal. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

Law Applicable to Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims

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