THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

CASE NO.: 2018-001674

JOHN UPSON,..... Respondent,

vs.

THE STATE,..... Petitioner.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

TOMMY A. THOMAS  
P.O. Box 88  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 732-5507  
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General  
Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

RECEIVED

SEP 18 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

## Argument

**The post-conviction relief judge did not err, as a matter of law or in a deficient manner, in ruling that trial counsel was ineffective for 1) failing to seek either a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; 2) failing to challenge the victim's testimony regarding Respondent's "lazy eye;" or 3) failing to challenge the State's testimony discrediting Respondent's alibi defense with an expert of his own.**

- 1) The post-conviction relief judge's concerns about the admissibility of eyewitness testimony due to the inconsistencies in Alston's story regarding her Facebook research and conversations with law enforcement were valid, and trial counsel's failure to attempt to suppress this testimony or object when it emerged was deficient and prejudicial to the point where one cannot rely upon the outcome of the case.**

Petitioner has cited many cases for the proposition that there was nothing suspect about Jameshia Alston's identification of Respondent as a perpetrator of the Captain D's robbery. The issue, however, is not so simple. At trial, and even through the evidentiary hearing, Respondent and his counsel questioned the timeline of events regarding Alston's discovery via Facebook of Respondent's identity and her exposure to the list of names from law enforcement.

Respondent admitted to visiting the restaurant where he spoke to an employee, William Keels, earlier that week. He had once dated Keels' sister, so the two had a brief conversation that Alston witnessed. At trial, Alston testified that she knew she recognized the robber, so she "went home and looked it up." App. 58;5-9. Respondent referred to this and subsequent testimony at the evidentiary hearing to show the potential confusion between Alston's research and information she may have received from law enforcement. Specifically, the following passage is particularly telling:

Mr. Smith: You scrolled down through the pictures?

Ms. Alston: Yes, sir. I did.

Mr. Smith: Or, did you type in John Upson's name?

Ms. Alston: No, I went on William Keels' page and I found his name. And when I saw his picture I jumped up because I knew that was him. And then I, like, clicked on his name and I was scrolling through his pictures. As I was looking I jumped up again. I told my mom that was him.

...

Mr. Smith: Does he have a lot of pictures of other people on his –

Ms. Alston: I didn't look at that.

Mr. Smith: You didn't look at anybody else's picture?

Ms. Alston: No, sir. I just looked at his name, who I was looking for.

Mr. Smith: You were just looking for John Upson?

Ms. Alston: Yes, sir.

App. 73;1-25. Paraphrased by Respondent on App. 428;2-429;12. When reviewing the transcript, it is apparent that Alston contradicts herself. She states that she was scrolling through pictures on Facebook until she found Respondent's name. Then she jumped when she saw his picture. This testimony reads as if she knew his name and went to find his picture for confirmation. Additionally, Alston testified that she was shown a list of names (without photos) by law enforcement. App. 75;20-76;2. Based on her testimony, it is possible that her timeline could be confused. At the very least, it is enough to question the veracity and reliability of her identification.

For these reasons, trial counsel should have requested a hearing pursuant to Neil v. Biggers, 408 U.S. 188 (1972) or, at the very least, objected to the admission of this testimony during trial. The State argues that a Neil v. Biggers hearing would be inappropriate because there is no legal basis on which to make the motion due to its perceived lack of a suggestive circumstance created by government officials as required by the case. However, based on Alston's testimony, it is actually quite unclear whether she was affected by suggestive circumstances created by law enforcement. Her testimony shows confusion regarding whether she was looking for a name or a photo; therefore, if

she were looking for a name, where did she get it? From the list she admits law enforcement showed her?

Though the order granting post-conviction relief included a finding she conducted her independent Facebook research before speaking to law enforcement, both the trial and PCR transcripts show Alston's confusion regarding the timeline and, therefore, the involvement of law enforcement before she made her out-of-court identification. Had Alston seen the list of names before she conducted her Facebook search, she would have had a very short list of people about whom she could research and find photos. This would be in contravention of the cases cited by Petitioner that require suggestive circumstances created by government officials or state action. See Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228 (2012); State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422 (2012). Because it was only after the Facebook search that Alston identified Respondent, trial counsel should have requested a pre-trial hearing to ensure that there were no improper actions taken by law enforcement. After all, "reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony." Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 154 (1977).

At the very least, trial counsel should have objected or otherwise drawn attention to Alston's conflicting testimony when it was presented at trial. The most confusing parts of her testimony were on trial counsel's cross-examination, and trial counsel did very little, if anything, to elucidate these errors or call attention to her conflicting statements. While it is unclear how much of this testimony trial counsel received in pre-trial discovery, he could certainly have taken the opportunity to impeach Alston on her conflicting statements during cross-examination. With any criminal case, the issue of

identification is crucial and, in this instance, Alston was the only eyewitness to identify Respondent. With only one individual identifying Respondent while trial counsel is presenting an alibi defense, the credibility or lack thereof for this sole witness becomes even more critical. Trial counsel should have used every possible tool in his arsenal to attempt to exclude, suppress, or discredit Alston's testimony and, had he done so, he may have proven that Alston's identification was incorrect. His failure to do so created prejudice such that there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel's unprofessional errors. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Petitioner's request for certiorari must be denied.

**2) The post-conviction relief judge's concern about the validity of eyewitness testimony due to the incorrect "lazy eye" testimony was valid, and trial counsel's failure to address it in any form or fashion was deficient performance and prejudicial to Respondent.**

During trial, Alston testified that she recognized Respondent because of his "bald head and lazy eye." App. 58;1-3. In fact, she said "that's the thing that caught [her] eye." App. 58;1-3. This is, surprisingly, despite the fact the perpetrators of the robbery had their heads and faces covered. The post-conviction relief court held Alston's incorrect description of Respondent's eyes caused it "particular[] concern[]" because it could have led to a misidentification that resulted in Respondent's conviction.

The State argued that, essentially, this is an instance where common sense should have prevailed – the jury had the opportunity to observe Respondent in the courtroom throughout the trial and could clearly see that he does not have a lazy eye, just as the post-conviction relief judge did. Even assuming this is true and the jury observed this fact, it actually harms the State's argument because it further dents Alston's credibility. If

she was so certain that she had identified the perpetrator because of his lazy eye that she jumped up to tell her mother upon finding his photograph, how can we actually trust her identification if the man she points to in the courtroom does not have a lazy eye?

The State cites State v. Odom, 412 S.C. 253, 772 S.E.2d 149 (2015) and State v. Washington, 323 S.C. 106, 473 S.E.2d 479 (1996) for the proposition that jurors' ability to observe defendants during trial and attach whatever credibility they deem necessary to a witness's identification. While that is true, it also leaves defense counsel open to exploit inconsistencies between the witness's description and the appearance of the defendant. In this case, the obvious fact that Respondent does not have a lazy eye should have been identified and exaggerated by trial counsel in order to discredit her testimony at every juncture.

As argued above, Alston's identification of Respondent is crucial to this case, and trial counsel should have taken every opportunity to discredit it. The State argues trial counsel "thoroughly attacked the reliability of Alston's identification in other ways," thus leaving it unlikely the failure to explore this avenue altered the course of the trial so as to create a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different as required by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). PWC, 20. This is patently false. Had trial counsel gone down this path of questioning to directly challenge Alston's description of a bald head and lazy eye, he may have totally discredited her testimony and identification, thus preventing Respondent's conviction. It is clear from the phrasing of the order granting relief that this potential for misidentification was the court's main concern and foundation for finding ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner's request for certiorari must be denied.

- 3) The post-conviction relief judge properly ruled that trial counsel failed to challenge the State's expert testimony at trial regarding cell phone tower data and, upon presentation of an expert at the evidentiary hearing, Respondent created significant doubt about the accuracy of the initial expert's testimony.**

At trial, the State presented an expert from the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms ("ATF") to analyze the cell phone data retrieved from Respondent's phone. In doing so, the State attempted to show Respondent was near the Captain D's at the time of the robbery. Though trial counsel had the cell phone data prior to trial, it was not analyzed by an expert nor was any expert testimony presented on behalf of Respondent. Second chair trial counsel testified that the information was discussed with someone in the office who was familiar with cell phone data, but no true expert opinion was sought. App. 441;9-13. He was not aware an expert would be called by the State because it was not until shortly before trial they became aware ATF was involved or an agent testifying. App. 447;25-448;2. He further testified he did not know if a motion for continuance was made or if any objection was possible, whether due to a discovery violation or otherwise. App. 448;16-449;16.

Regardless, trial counsel had information at hand that could have been analyzed and presented in the light most favorable to them. At the evidentiary hearing, Respondent presented such an expert in Tom Slovenski. He testified, initially, that the PenLink system used by ATF to analyze cell phone data with the pie method was highly susceptible to user error, more than other methods or manual analysis. App. 402;9-12. In fact, Slovenski testified he would have manually plotted the data using the pie method if he were analyzing the data at the time of trial because that was all that was available.

The State argues repeatedly that Slovenski used a method – TraX – that was unavailable at the time of trial to develop his testimony for the evidentiary hearing. While that is true, it was for the purpose of doublechecking the analysis done in 2013 due to the likelihood of incorrect results from PenLink. He testified extensively to the necessity of peer verification and “getting another examiner to look at what you’ve done.” App. 398;25-399;12. In fact, he testified you “have to” manually check results after using any program. PCR TR 39;10-15. The errors in the ATF report Slovenski pointed out were as simple as not having the name or phone number of Respondent on the documents, the date and time of reference, or even an indicator of the precise location of Captain D’s. App. 398;9-12;389;14-24. Furthermore, they did not use best practices in the industry, primarily meaning they did not reveal as specific enough detail as they should. App. 387;18-388;11. The thrust of the testimony was not about the program used, but about the veracity and reliability of the analysis presented at trial. Slovenski used a new method to verify the analysis presented by ATF based upon the call data in trial counsel’s possession and found the ATF analysis to be quite inaccurate.

Regarding the factual differences of the reports, Slovenski’s analysis shows Respondent farther from Captain D’s at the time of the incident than the ATF’s did. App. 395;9-14. Also, there are areas of overlap in several maps that were not identified or explained by Fraser, the ATF expert. App. 396;21-25. Ultimately, Slovenski testified that, without knowledge of cell phone data or the ability to analyze the maps and analysis presented by ATF, trial counsel would not have had the ability to ask appropriate questions to rebut this information. App. 399;13-16.

Ultimately, this is a question of reliability and accuracy of the information presented by ATF's expert. Trial counsel had the data, knew or should have known that they did not fully understand it, and did not bother to seek the assistance of an expert. The fact that TraX was used by Slovenski to analyze the data for the evidentiary hearing has no bearing on whether it was available in 2013, despite what the State argues. Many of the problems Slovenski enumerated dealt with the ability of a layperson to interpret the maps and analysis. Trial counsel, as a layperson in the field of cell phone data, would have also been at a disadvantage and would not have been able to adequately cross-examine Fraser at trial. The State pointed to several factors that it argues diminish the likelihood of prejudice to Respondent, such as how Slovenski acknowledged the State never argued the maps showed Respondent at the scene, or that the solicitor conceded in his closing that the maps showed Respondent downtown, where his alibi witnesses placed him. Regardless, this does not remove the likelihood that a more thorough and scientific analysis of these records on Respondent's behalf at the time of trial would have discredited Fraser's testimony. Because of the failure of trial counsel to fully research and use the cell phone data, this "trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686. Therefore, Petitioner's request for certiorari must be denied.

### Conclusion

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully requested that Petitioner's request for certiorari be denied and dismissed. If this Court sees fit to grant its petition for writ of certiorari, respondent would request permission under the rules to fully brief the issues contained herein.